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The committee did not need a Deep Throat to tell us to follow the money.


—Senator Byron Dorgan of North Dakota, vice chairman of the 2006 Senate Indian Affairs Committee, investigating the scandal involving Republican lobbyist Jack Abramoff


The government is us…. You and me!


—President Theodore Roosevelt, 1902








PROLOGUE


Third World Capital








The thing you have to remember about Texas, a lawyer there remarked to me recently, “is that it’s a Third World country, the capital city of which is Houston.”


The nominal capital of Texas is, in fact, Austin, located some 163 miles to the west of Houston. But Austin, as my friend said, is “too little”—a mere 718,912 in population—“too liberal and too educated” to mirror properly the state it purports to represent. Not only is the state’s government located there but also the flagship branch of the University of Texas, with some fifty thousand students and sixteen thousand faculty. Austin is compact, startlingly beautiful, and infused with a sweet, laid-back character.


Houston is none of these things.


The vast sprawl that is Houston grew up around what is today a twenty-five-mile-long complex of docks, warehouses, and industrial parks. With more than 200 million tons of cargo moving through it annually, the Port of Houston is the nation’s second largest. Running west to east, the Houston Ship Channel carries petrochemical products past belching refineries and into the warm waters of the Gulf of Mexico.


More than six hundred square miles in area, much of it barely above sea level, and occupying a fetid, mosquito-infested plain, Houston lacks only malaria to be a torrid Latin American coastal city like Guayaquil in Ecuador. Today, more than half the population is nonwhite: 37 percent of Houstonians are Hispanic in origin, 25 percent are African-American. The city they inhabit is one of the most ozone-polluted areas in the country. Contributing to their distress is the fact that Houston is the largest city in the United States without zoning regulations. Here, a massive billboard; there a strip club; and over there, a residential neighborhood. In all likelihood, a rather poor, black residential neighborhood.


This is Houston, a city of incredible riches and incredible poverty, the squalid housing of the historically black Fifth Ward seemingly as far from the palatial spreads of the famed River Oaks section as is Mars from Earth.


As the capital of a Third World state within the United States, Houston looms large. Which is also a way of saying that if you want to understand America today—the scandals rippling through Washington, the moral collapse of the Bush administration—you have to understand Texas, and to understand Texas, you have to understand Houston.





Houston is big. The city’s population has edged to just over 2 million people, which makes it our nation’s fourth largest, behind only New York, Los Angeles, and Chicago. Meanwhile, Houston is second only to New York as a headquarters for Fortune 500 companies. The amount of wealth held by Houston’s leading citizens, many of whom own those palatial spreads in River Oaks, is correspondingly staggering. Find yourself stuck in traffic during rush hour on one of Houston’s ten-lane freeways, and you’ll notice the many luxury cars, most of them foreign, not just Cadillacs and Lexuses, but BMWs and Benzes, Volvos and Saabs, and what seems to be a endless supply of Mercedes SUVs. There is money aplenty in this town, its leading citizens truly the masters of Houston’s universe.


Their world, the world of power and privilege, lies at the very heart of downtown Houston. Anchored by a fifteen-block section of Louisiana Street, this area of skyscrapers, many designed by the late Philip Johnson or I. M. Pei, is dense with corporate and legal power. On the eastern edge rises the baseball stadium, Minute Maid Park (the former Enron Field), where the Astros play and where former president and Mrs. George H. W. Bush attend as guests of the owners. The Bushes, of course, sit behind home plate.


In the midst of downtown, at 1111 Louisiana Street, stands One Reliant Plaza, home of Reliant Energy. Reliant is the nexus, where the energy business, the downtown law firms, and the Republican Party come together. Executives at Reliant—which sprang from a rich dinosaur, the former Houston Lighting & Power, a traditional electric company—prospered wildly from the 2000 California “energy crisis.” Eventually, Reliant came close to failing, but, unlike Enron, never went into bankruptcy. Across the parking lot from Reliant Energy is One Shell Plaza. Its occupants: the powerful Baker Botts law firm and Shell Oil (the American refining subsidiary of Royal Dutch Shell), a company that recorded a record $5.28 billion in profits in 2006 alone. Four blocks to the south stands what remains of Enron, the corrupt heart of the downtown. Dynegy Corp., Enron’s great and hated rival in the energy-trading business, is just across the street.


It was here, in downtown Houston, a world inscribed by the energy companies and the law firms that service them, in the social whirl of Rice University just a few dozen blocks away on Main Street, and in the schools, clubs, churches, banks, real estate agencies, and restaurants, that the operatives of the Texas Republican Party went hunting for money and power in the 1990s, both of which they found in unprecedented amounts. Once they leveraged Houston, they could get the whole state. It was here, and in the Texas State House in Austin, that the representatives of George W. Bush—not the least of whom was Karl Rove, the younger Bush’s “brain”—worked out in Texas the outline for what they intended to do to the country as a whole if only they could first make George W. Bush governor and then president.


Yet for a complete accounting of Houston’s symbols and institutions of power, one would have to take a short cab ride from downtown to a quieter corner of the Rice campus, where, astride a marshy plain, sits a perfect little jewel box of a building: the James A. Baker III Institute for Public Policy.


Much of the work of the so-called Baker Commission, the ten-member bipartisan Iraq Study Group (ISG) quietly took place over many months last year. Here too that recommendations in the ISG’s report, The Way Forward, were put to paper. For much of 2006, the little-known but highly influential Baker Institute was a beehive of activity, where policymakers met to contemplate not so much “the way forward” but “the way out” of Iraq.


The Baker Institute is, after all, not an “institute for policy studies,” but an “institute for policy,” which suggests something rather different: a center for affirmative, hands-on, policy-engendering work, the Texas-style antithesis to an East Coast–Ivy League approach. Consider the Baker Institute’s advisory board. The membership includes a former secretary of energy (Charles Duncan, who served in the Carter administration) and no less than three former secretaries of state (James A. Baker III, Madeleine Albright, and Colin Powell). The director, Edward Djerejian, is a former ambassador to two of the world’s leading tinderboxes, Israel and Syria. While plenty of academics teach at the Baker Institute, teaching is only one focus. Policymaking—American foreign-policy making—is another.


The jewel box—some have called it the Taj Ma Jim, though in reality its architecture seems to be imbued with a more or less Mideastern or Near Eastern character—faces another impressively regal new building on the Rice University campus: the sprawling Jesse H. Jones Graduate School of Management.


The placement of the two buildings could not be more appropriate—or more symbolic. For while Jesse Jones was the representative Houston man of affairs of his generation—roughly the first half of the twentieth century—James A. Baker III has played a similar role for the past quarter century or more. Where Jones had been an entrepreneur, newspaper publisher, and New Dealer, Baker is a lawyer, behind-the-scenes politico, and diplomat. It matters little that Jones was a Democrat and Baker is a Republican, for, at heart, both became conservatives of the downtown business-establishment variety.


Sculptured bulls and bears guard the doors to the Jones School, a not very subtle reminder that Houston has always been about “bidness,” having begun life as a coastal railroad terminus, the Southwestern outpost of Wall Street interests. The exhibits lining the hallways of the Jones School tell another story: of the rise of an indigenous class of mostly self-made Texas millionaires, big ranchers and timber barons, oil-field wildcatters, and entrepreneurs of all sorts—and the professional class, the doctors and lawyers and accountants who serviced them.


Jesse Jones was the big man of his day, owner of the dominant newspaper, the Houston Chronicle, head of the Reconstruction Finance Corporation (the New Deal’s celebrated RFC)—a role that made “Uncle Jesse” the nation’s banker of last resort during some of the worst years of the Depression—and secretary of commerce under Franklin D. Roosevelt. Even among the other big men in town—such as the construction magnates Herman and George Brown of Brown & Root (part of today’s Halliburton), who were the sugar daddies of Lyndon B. Johnson—Jones was the towering figure.* At a time when a new car cost $420, a new house $7,109, a gallon of gas 11¢, and a loaf of bread 10¢, Jones was a millionaire many times over. Until Roosevelt fired him in 1945, Jones thought he might even one day succeed “the Boss.” He was right about much, but wrong about that.


James Addison Baker III, scion of the city’s first family of lawyers, briefly toyed with the idea of running for president. In the end, he passed. Baker’s genius—whether as White House chief of staff, treasury secretary, Republican presidential campaign manager, secretary of state, and 2000 Florida presidential vote-recount manager—has been of another sort, lying in closed-door maneuverings and artful compromises, flying beneath—far beneath—the radar as often as possible.


Jim Baker has long been noted for being diplomatic and composed, but also proud—and not destitute of vanity. The foyer to the Baker Institute is meant to impress, and it does. Here are to be found a few of Baker’s worldwide honors, many of them in the form of beribboned medals: the commemorative medal struck in gold and bronze by the U.S. Mint in honor of Baker’s service as the sixty-seventh secretary of the treasury; the Gold Cross of Merit of the Holy Sepulchre of Jerusalem Award for Mideast Peace; the Grand Cross First Class of the Order of Merit of the Federal Republic of Germany (awarded by German president Richard von Weizsäcker); the Decoration of the Special Class by the State of Kuwait; the Zayed the First Order of the United Arab Emirates (1998); all the way down to the Order of Liberty, given in honor of the tenth anniversary of democracy in Mongolia.


There are photographs of Jim Baker with the presidents he has served, most notably his fellow Houstonian and longtime tennis partner, George H. W. Bush. Photographs too of Baker with Colin Powell and UN secretary-general Kofi Annan.


Also to be found, carved in bronze, is a list of the donors who contributed to the building of the Taj Ma Jim, some of them anonymous, but for the most part a who’s who of Houston, circa 2000. Powerful as these figures are in the behind-the-scenes world of business and politics, few have names that would ring bells with the American public.


The corporate donors are another matter entirely: the Coca-Cola Foundation, the Shell Oil Company Foundation, Conoco, Coopers & Lybrand, the Annenberg Foundation, the Brown Foundation, Ford Motor Company, the Archer Daniels Midland Foundation, Penzoil Co., AT&T, Southwestern Bell Telephone Company, Dresser Industries, and McKinsey & Co., among them. What exactly James A. Baker III did to earn the financial gratitude of the likes of these is unanswered by the tombstone.


Buried among the many other corporate names is one of particular interest: the Carlyle Group, the multibillion-dollar international investment fund whose investors include Arab princes and potentates and whose principal advisers have included former president George H. W. Bush, former British prime minister John Major—and former secretary of state James A. Baker III.


A few of the corporate donors, of course, are no longer in business: Enron Corp. and its accountants, Arthur Andersen LLP, for example. Other givers are still very much in business, among them the government of Kuwait—saved from Saddam Hussein during the first Persian Gulf War by a military coalition led by President George H. W. Bush and his secretary of state, James A. Baker III. The Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Science has its name prominently inscribed on the list of donors.


Still, on a bone-chilling, early-December day in 2005, the most revealing item on display at the Baker Institute is neither a photograph nor a medal, nor the names on the bronze plaque, but is instead page after page displayed in a glass case, each page marked TOP SECRET, the word-for-word transcription of a meeting held prior to the first Gulf War between Secretary of State Baker and his Iraqi counterpart, Foreign Minister Tariq Aziz.


It was there that Baker warned Saddam Hussein via Aziz that, should the Iraqi army resort to the use of weapons of mass destruction, the coalition forces were prepared to reply in a kind unspecified, but starkly threatening. The warning worked. Diplomacy worked.


By December 2005, the message in the glass case seemed obvious. With its chaotic aftermath fast spiraling into civil war, the second Iraq war—the neocon-dreamed-up Iraq adventure—had failed miserably. The thing was a fiasco. And this was Jim Baker’s way of saying so.


The fact that the institute displays official U.S. government documents was telling. Like it or not, Houston, once a mere outpost of Wall Street and of the old-fashioned “Eastern interests,” was now vying with New York and Washington to be the nation’s political center of gravity.


And, as with the 2000 election of President George W. Bush, you could thank Baker—and those little-known, but vastly well heeled Texas Republicans whose names are inscribed on the gleaming bronze plaque in his palace—for it.





As I left the Baker Institute behind me that day in December 2005 and turned onto Rice Boulevard—a neighborhood of graceful Tudor and Georgian mansions, at least one sporting a huge Texas flag—I found myself reflecting on the state of the state. Clearly, no one was hurting among these well-heeled Houston Republicans this Christmas. Santa, one could say, was full of good cheer. Both houses of the Texas state legislature were in the Republicans’ pockets. The governor was a pen stroke waiting to be added to whatever legislation was put in front of him. The lieutenant governor, the attorney general, the speaker of the state house of representatives, the land commissioner, and even the agriculture commissioner were all Republicans. The state courts were also solidly Republican, unanimously so in the case of the state supreme court. The federal courts, at both the district and appellate levels, were largely presided over by Republican judges, appointed for life. Both U.S. senators were Republican. The Texas delegation to the U.S. House of Representatives stood at twenty-one Republicans and only thirteen Democrats. No one seemed to believe that one of those Texas representatives, House majority leader Tom DeLay, was in any kind of real trouble, even after he’d been indicted on felony charges by a grand jury in Austin. And indicted Washington lobbyist Jack Abramoff might just as well not have existed. No one even seemed to know or care that Abramoff and DeLay had once been connected at the hips.


It was Christmastime, and the Texas Republicans were in hog heaven. Texas was theirs, and the good old USA seemed next in line.


Follow the money trail, and you’ll see what they did—and how they almost got away with it.









FOLLOW THE MONEY








CHAPTER ONE


The Changing of the Guard









Flash back to the spring of 1994. Between then and now, a vast chasm yawns across the political surface of Texas. It’s hard to believe, but what seems like an aeon of political change took place in little more than a decade. But change it did.


Back then, Texas was a different place.


This was the political landscape of Texas as the 1994 election cycle loomed: The state house of representatives was Democratic; the state senate was Democratic. The state supreme court and most of the lesser state courts were Democratic. All these too were Democrats: Governor Ann Richards; Lieutenant Governor Bob Bullock; Attorney General Dan Morales; and Land Commissioner Garry Mauro. It was a deep bench the Democrats fielded—and an ambitious one. Some among them dreamed of being governor themselves; others dreamed of the Senate; one, at least, might have had higher ambitions still. None of their dreams were to be fulfilled.


The Texas congressional delegation stood at twenty-one Democrats and nine Republicans in the U.S. House of Representatives. Among these were some of the most powerful and senior members of Congress, led by the veteran Judiciary Committee chairman Jack Brooks of Beaumont.


Only in the U.S. Senate were the Texas Republicans dominant. And the two serving senators from the Lone Star State were widely accorded to be among the least impressive of its members: the thin-lipped, whiny-voiced Phil Gramm, his native, nasal Georgia accent never having left him, and Kay Bailey Hutchison, elected only the year before in a special election to replace the long-serving mandarin Democrat Lloyd Bentsen. Gramm, with his delusions of grandeur unabated, yet with his presidential aspirations fast going up in smoke, was among the least liked by his fellow senators, while Hutchison, for all her personal charm, was a very junior senator. Neither had more than limited influence. Neither was ever going to be a major presence in the U.S. Senate.


How then is it possible that such cataclysmic change came to Texas—and in such a short time?





True, Texas had had a Republican governor in its recent past—the first since the post–Civil War age of Reconstruction, millionaire oilman William P. Clements of Dallas. Clements served two nonconsecutive terms as governor (1979–83 and 1987–91) and was widely judged a failure both times. Arrogant to the point of abrasiveness, Clements made few friends in Austin and proved a poor public face to put on the rise of Texas Republicanism, but he was colorful.


The football-loving Clements had also served as chairman of the Southern Methodist University trustees. There, he helped preside over one of the worst scandals in NCAA history. Players on the SMU Mustangs football team—52-19-1 between 1980 and 1986—had, it turned out, been paid thousands of dollars from a slush fund run by boosters. The NCAA responded by handing SMU the so-called death penalty, barring the team from bowl games and television appearances for two years and reducing football scholarships by fifty-five over four years—and mandating an entire year’s absence (1987) from the playing field.


Ironically, Clements’s political comeback could be traced to football. His pallid successor as governor, Democrat Mark White, following the advice of Dallas billionaire Ross Perot, had rammed a “no-pass, no-play” law through the state legislature—and had lived to pay for it with his political hide. Football-loving Texans of the Clements variety were horrified to learn that high school athletes would be barred from playing when the only sin they had committed was earning a failing grade or two in class. Largely on the basis of public resentment over no-pass, no-play, Mark White found himself bounced from office.


After his second term, Clements called it a day. His handpicked successor, multimillionaire Texas oilman Clayton Williams, running a well-financed, “good ole boy” campaign, was expected to cruise to victory. At times, Williams held as much as a twenty-point lead over his Democratic opponent, State Treasurer Ann Richards. But then “Claytie” Williams self-destructed, first by refusing to shake hands with Richards, then by equating a sudden Texas thunderstorm to rape, joking with reporters that “as long as it’s inevitable, you might as well lie back and enjoy it.” That was the day that the bumptious Williams lost the emerging “soccer mom” generation of middle-class, suburban Texas women—and with it the 1990 gubernatorial election as well.


Even so, Richards squeaked to victory, with less than 50 percent of the vote. The argument could be made—and has been made—that Ann Richards’s 1990 electoral win was a fluke, merely putting off by four years Republican rule in Texas. That argument, however, fails to consider the widespread popular support enjoyed by Richards for most of her governorship. In truth, the state had never had a politician quite like her. She was neither overbearing (like Clements) nor bland (like Mark White). Richards, the former wife of a legendary Texas labor and civil rights lawyer, was, instead, spunky and outspoken, humorous and energetic.


Richards’s keynote address to the 1988 Democratic National Convention had been a sensation. Referring to Republican presidential candidate George H. W. Bush, Richards had uttered the memorable line “Poor George, he can’t help it…. He was born with a silver footin his mouth.” She had also earned a lifetime of enmity from the Bush family and their followers.


The Richards governorship was notable for more than mere acerbic wit. The long-stagnant Texas economy, stimulated by the new governor’s economic revitalization programs, began to grow again. Aggressive audits were said to have saved the state some $6 billion in the same period. As governor, Richards took on problems that other Texas governors had passed on, beginning with an attempt to reform the state’s notoriously overcrowded prison system; a very un-Texas-like attempt to reduce the sale of semiautomatic weapons; and, most problematic of all, an effort to reform the way in which public schools were funded. The so-called Robin Hood plan sought to channel money from the state’s richest school districts into its poorest districts, most of them black and Latino in population.


Ann Richards was liberal, without being too liberal—her pragmatic progressivism masked by the thick and distinctly Texan accent in which she set forth her latest program. Richards always had a narrow pathway to walk politically. Many of her programs were controversial—none more so than the Robin Hood plan—and Richards made many friends and many enemies along the way. It did not help that Richards was a tough taskmaster, known for driving her staff hard, nor that she refused to make kindly with some in the local media. In the words of the spouse of a high-ranking Texas Monthly editor, “Ann was never very inviting.” Richards’s attitude was, the spouse added, in studied contrast with that of her successor, who made a point of having the panjandrums of the press “over to the mansion.”


But govern Ann Richards did—and in a state where the governor’s powers are derived as much from personal persuasion as from statute. She was surely bigger than life.


Her Republican opponent in the 1994 election was anything but. Indeed, apart from bearing a famous name and a reputation for having helped rescue the Texas Rangers baseball team from its notoriously cheap (and wildly right-wing) owner, Eddie Chiles—and making himself a multimillionaire in the process—George W. Bush was a virtual unknown.


At the time, Eddie Chiles, though never a candidate for office, was a bigger presence on the Texas political scene than Bush. Chiles, in the great right-wing tradition of H. L. Hunt, had paid good money to espouse his reactionary views on spot radio ads. The ads, remembered by a generation of Texans, began with the exhortation “I’m Eddie Chiles, and I’m mad!” Usually it was taxes that Eddie Chiles was mad about, taxes written up there in Washington, D.C., by a bunch of tax-and-spend Democrats, not a few of them Texas Democrats.


George W. Bush inherited the message—but not the style—of an Eddie Chiles. At first glance, he seemed, if anything, to be a mild-mannered fellow. A listener too, if for no other reason than he sure didn’t want to be seen to be a talker.


The story has been told before—often and well, in, for example, Bush’s Brain, by Wayne Slater and James Moore—but the gist of it is that the brilliant Austin-based Republican strategist Karl Rove found in the young Bush the perfect candidate, virtually a political tabula rasa. Governor Richards and her strategists expected—not entirely without reason—that the younger Bush would, like Claytie Williams, self-destruct in the campaign. Rove, however, kept the candidate “on message,” and, as much as possible, away from the media.


Bush ran on only four issues—among these, school financing reform and tort reform—and the same themes, encapsulated in easy-to-remember sound bites, were repeated constantly whenever he spoke. Rove saw to it that the candidate received a series of tutorials designed to teach him the rudiments of Texas state government. Moore and Slater call it “a crash course on Texas civics.” The veteran legislator Bill Ratliff, the chairman of the Senate Education Committee and an expert on school finance, was flown in twice for daylong sessions with Bush in a small conference room in Dallas. The candidate, Ratliff discovered, “didn’t know much.” Nor did he take notes, preferring to try to absorb the “stream” of information Ratliff poured out. If an aide is to be believed, the candidate didn’t even know the difference between Medicaid and Medicare. “Now, I hear these two,” Bush explained. “They’re different. What’s the difference between the two?”


Probably the most important of Bush’s briefers was Mike Toomey, a former Republican state legislator who was by now one of the leading business lobbyists in Austin.


Toomey had belonged to the celebrated “Class of 1983” in the Texas state house, along with fellow Republican Tom DeLay. Now he was tutor-in-chief to the presumptive Republican candidate for governor. Besides trying to guide Bush through the ins and outs of the state’s $70 billion budget, Toomey was also expected to give him political advice. About one issue, Toomey was emphatic. The next governor, Toomey told Bush, would need to reform the state’s antiquated, pro-plaintiff tort laws. That would be Job One.


Needless to say, Toomey found Bush a receptive listener. He was already preaching to the converted.


And on election day 1994, George W. Bush prevailed over Ann Richards in an upset, garnering 53 percent of the vote.





Current Houston mayor Bill White, widely regarded as the standard-bearer of his state’s party these days, was chairman of the Texas Democratic Party in 1994. In retrospect, he says, it’s clear that 1994 was “the watershed election.”


Tall, slightly awkward in manner, his bald pate shining under the lights of his art deco City Hall office, White would seem a most unlikely savior for the state’s Democrats. But he also exudes an air of confidence, considerable intelligence, and, above all, competence. A University of Texas–trained lawyer, White is a self-made millionaire, an entrepreneur and investor, and, in the words of one of the city’s top lawyers, “truly the smartest guy in town.” White is also, says a female Democratic lawyer, “the absolute un-W.”


What you have to understand about 1994, White explains, “is that it was the first election in which talk radio turned the tide.” Traveling around Texas, putting countless miles onto the odometer of his car, raising money, and speaking on behalf of local and statewide candidates, White was amazed to find that “whether it was in the Panhandle or in West Texas, Dallas or Houston, Rush Limbaugh was the most listened-to guy on the airwaves.”


With the sole exception of the twelve counties of far South Texas (“the Borderland”) and in largely Hispanic Bexar County (San Antonio), says White, the election was “all about guns and gays—the social issues.” (Other observers add a third g to the litany: they say the election was “all about guns, gays, and God.”)


Party chairman White had assured his fellow Democrats that “we’d keep the base in East Texas,” but there too he was wrong. There too “it was all Rush, all the time.”


It hadn’t helped that Richards, rather than her inexperienced opponent, had made the most important verbal slip of the campaign—referring in public to the younger Bush as a “jerk.” It also hadn’t helped that an old-fashioned, anonymous campaign of innuendo had been run against Richards in rural, Baptist East Texas. The governor, the whisper campaign went, was a lesbian. That East Texas had traditionally been a populist stronghold—well suited, one might have thought, to Richards’s message and her I’m-just-a-good-old-girl persona—mattered greatly. Yet, come election day, Ann Richards lost East Texas—and with it, some would argue, the state.


It also hadn’t helped that other, equally strong currents were at work in the election of 1994. These were powerful, national currents that carried with them a host of seemingly lesser Republicans in Austin—and in Washington.


Among these was one Thomas D. DeLay.





The story of the man named Tom has been told often and in detail, never better than in the words of the talented Texas reporters Lou Dubose and Jan Reid, in their books The Hammer and The Hammer Comes Down. The short version of it goes like this: The son of an itinerant roustabout named Charlie DeLay, young Tom had grown up in many places, the Borderland brush country of South Texas, for one; the oil fields of Venezuela, for another. Aged twelve, Tom along with his family returned to Texas, making their new home in the Gulf Coast city of Corpus Christi.


Suffice it to say that DeLay married young (to Christine); had a daughter, Danielle (known as Dani); graduated from the University of Houston; and went to work in the pest-control business—hence his subsequent political nicknames (the Exterminator and the Bug Man)—and settled in suburban Sugar Land near Houston. DeLay’s career enjoyed a strange and unexpected trajectory: from that of a distinctly small, semisuccessful businessman to ardent conservative of the most virulently right-wing variety, to obscure Republican state legislator. In Austin, as a junior minority member of a Democratic-controlled legislature, DeLay was little more than “furniture” on the floor of the house.


While in Austin, DeLay had earned a well-deserved reputation—practically the only reputation he developed there—for being one of the legislature’s most active “party animals,” drinking, carousing, and, in general, enjoying life’s favors. Along the way, though, DeLay had found Jesus. And, in doing so, the suddenly abstemious DeLay found himself with an entirely new constituency: the religious right, with which he would for three decades closely be identified.


Elected to the U.S. House of Representatives from a suburban Houston district in 1984, DeLay continued to toil in obscurity as a minority backbencher. For much of his first ten years in Congress (1984–94), DeLay occupied a lonely place in the House, the object of Democratic scorn, and an outsider within his own Republican ranks.


In this, DeLay was following in the footsteps of the recently retired Dallas congressman Jim Collins and fellow Houston congressman Bill Archer.


Collins’s mere presence before a microphone in the well of the House had been enough to set off a wave of hoots and jeers, so outrageously right-wing was he. The gawky, supremely inarticulate Collins, his voice rising to a high pitch, his face flushed crimson, had long been a favorite of Democratic derision.


Archer, the congressman from Houston’s silk-stocking district (once represented by George H. W. Bush), was a more serious character, if only because of his seniority. Eventually ascending to the position of ranking minority member on the powerful tax-writing Ways and Means Committee, Bill Archer was the House’s leading opponent of the federal income tax, both personal and corporate.


Less wacky than Collins, less serious than Archer, “Bug Man” DeLay completed the Texas trio. House Democrats laughed on, knowing they had nothing to fear from such as these.


How wrong they were.





By 1994, Collins had long since left the House; but Archer and DeLay had remained—and risen to power. The congressional Democrats in Washington were about to discover what it was like to be on the losing side of the aisle.


The Republican Revolution—fueled by new Speaker Newt Gingrich’s cleverly publicized Contract with America, conservative anger over gays in the military (“don’t ask, don’t tell”), and widespread dissatisfaction with the Clintons’ failed effort to reform national health care—had led to an unexpected GOP sweep in the 1994 midterm elections.


With the House Republicans newly resurgent, Tom DeLay—by defeating the conservative Pennsylvania firebrand Robert Walker, the close friend and candidate of new Speaker Gingrich—was elected majority whip of the House of Representatives in January 1995. Winning the post made DeLay the third highest-ranking Republican in the House, behind only Speaker Gingrich and Majority Leader Armey. From then on, it was all blue sky for congressional right-wingers. The much maligned Tom DeLay was now, suddenly, a very big cheese indeed.


If Gingrich was the architect of Republican House ascendancy, DeLay was soon to emerge as its financier, and therein lay his claim to power. The day before Republicans were to organize the 104th Congress—the first time in forty years that they were the majority party in both houses—DeLay opened the doors of the majority whip’s office for the purpose of setting in motion the innocently named Project Relief. The not-so-innocent goal of Project Relief was to cut corporate taxes and loosen government regulation over big business. The name given the project was a pure piece of advertising (like Contract with America)—but full of irony, foretelling an ominous future. The “victims” awaiting relief turned out not to be the country’s many millions of poor and indigent, but were instead a handful of America’s richest citizens and biggest corporations.





While Tom DeLay cracked the whip in public, his chief of staff, Ed Buckham, lurked, ever present, in the shadows. That no one outside Capitol Hill knew his name mattered little. For Buckham, elected to nothing, exercised the power that his boss had seized—exercised it ruthlessly too.


Buckham was, like most of DeLay’s senior staffers, an experienced hand on Capitol Hill, a Republican operative who had spent years toiling in the political vineyard on behalf of conservative GOP House members, most recently as executive director of the Republican Study Group (RSG).


John Feehery was for a time DeLay’s communications director, working closely with Buckham. Feehery would later write that he thus “experienced the Republican revolution firsthand”—and watched as Tom DeLay began to consolidate his power over the House. DeLay was notably assertive—“ruthless” and “obnoxious” were the words Democrats often used to describe the majority whip—but Buckham went well beyond even his boss in this regard.


From behind the arras, Feehery watched as Buckham pushed DeLay to be more radical in the tactics he used against his Democratic foes. In this, Buckham exemplified the men and women who made up DeLay’s inner circle. Tony C. Rudy, press secretary and later deputy chief of staff, was a Brooklyn native and amateur ice hockey player. Rudy, a graduate of the George Mason Law School, affected a taste for expensive cigars, but he exhibited all the sensibility of a punishing winger in a brutal contact sport—an elbow in the ribs here, a stick in the chops there—as he stalked the halls of Congress. A GOP lobbyist once described Rudy as DeLay’s “harder edge,” adding, “It was always push, push, push, pressure, pressure, pressure.” Rudy, the same person said, “was someone who was very aggressive and on the edge, [yet] who had Tom’s complete trust.” Capitol Hill reporters soon learned that Rudy was not someone you wanted to cross. Rudy was, in the words of his former boss Feehery, “DeLay’s enforcer.”


Another of Rudy’s tasks—one that might at first glance have seemed menial to outsiders, but which actually brought with it significant power—was to oversee the whip’s “member maintenance” operation. This amounted to running a concierge service that provided Republican House members with private town cars and expensive meals—at no charge—during late-night votes. “The whole purpose of this,” Rudy boasted, was “to treat members of Congress as kings and queens.”


Buckham, however, wasn’t content to be a concierge or even a gatekeeper. His boss, DeLay, had already shown the way. Where Gingrich was obsessed with ideology and with his personal place in history, for Buckham, as for DeLay, it was—24/7/365—all about the benjamins.





Among the host of Republican hangers-on who showed up in January 1995 to reap the rewards wrought by the Gingrich Revolution was a former College Republican leader and sometime lawyer, Hollywood B-picture producer and full-time schemer named Jack Abramoff.


Born in Atlantic City, New Jersey, Abramoff, aged ten, had moved with his family to Beverly Hills. There, the teenaged Jack played football and became a high school weight-lifting champion. He would later tell the story of how his life turned around when, as a boy of twelve, he sat in the audience of Fiddler on the Roof. As a consequence, said Abramoff, “I made the decision that I would become religious in order to preserve the faith in our family.”


By the time he had finished college, Abramoff was well on his way to being one of the best-connected young Republicans of his day. Among the friends of Jack Abramoff in those days were Grover Norquist, Karl Rove, and Ralph Reed. Each would, in time, play a key role in his rise.


Abramoff first met Norquist in 1980 when Abramoff was an undergraduate at Brandeis University (class of 1981) and Norquist was a student at the Harvard Business School. Both were active in the College Republican National Committee, and both worked that year in the Massachusetts campaign of Republican presidential candidate Ronald Reagan.


Reed’s and Abramoff’s paths first crossed in 1982, when the then chairman of the College Republican National Committee (1981–85), Abramoff, hired Reed to be his executive director (1983–85). Reed, who arrived in Washington as a nineteen-year-old Senate intern, soon became close to Abramoff, so much so that he could sometimes be found sleeping on the boss’s couch. It was close pal Reed who introduced Abramoff to his future wife, Pamela.


Abramoff, Norquist, and Reed would eventually prove a formidable trio in Republican Party politics, but in 1982–83, they were just a bunch of young politicos on the make. The trio broke the College Republicans budget with a 1982 national direct-mail fund-raising campaign that ended up a “colossal flop,” in the words of the then Republican National Committee (RNC) deputy director, Rich Bond. It fell to Bond to banish the trio from GOP headquarters. “You can’t be trusted,” he told Abramoff.*





In Hollywood, Abramoff achieved minor renown as the producer and coauthor of Red Scorpion, a 1989 “Cold War classic” starring Dolph Lundgren. The Los Angeles Times called Red Scorpion “a numbskull live-action comic book,” while Frank Rich of the New York Times tersely dismissed it as “seriously God-awful.”


Columnist Peter Carlson of the Washington Post later satirized Abramoff’s Hollywood career thusly: “He Was No Run of De Mille Movie Mogul.” Not with the kind of chillingly right-wing baggage the movie and its producer carried. Red Scorpion had been filmed not on a Hollywood sound set but in South Africa using soldiers and military equipment lent by the white, apartheid government. Which did not make Red Scorpion or its sequel, Red Scorpion 2 (1994), popular with American liberals. Imagine, Carlson wrote, if those same liberals had “known that the International Freedom Foundation, a right-wing group founded by Abramoff, was secretly bankrolled by the South African army.”


Or imagine if Jack Abramoff’s new colleagues at the Preston Gates law firm had known as much in early 1995. But they didn’t. As the freshly minted director of governmental affairs in the Washington, D.C., office of Preston Gates Ellis & Rouvelas Meeds, Abramoff worked for the Seattle law firm whose longtime leader and name partner was William H. Gates Sr., the father of the world’s richest man, Microsoft cofounder Bill Gates.





What Jack Abramoff brought with him, to begin with, were a bunch of somewhat dubious IOUs, based on his close ties to Norquist, Reed, and Rove. Eventually, the IOUs would come due, but in early 1995, the old friendships counted for little more than introductions. Still, one such introduction did prove pivotal, when Norquist began opening doors on Capitol Hill for Abramoff. Norquist was by then already an important figure among the Contract with America crowd. His Americans for Tax Reform (ATR), founded in 1985, had gradually evolved into a right-wing strategy shop during the early Clinton years.


One door, in particular, that Norquist helped open—the door to a suite of rooms occupied by the House majority whip and, later, the House majority leader—would remain open for Jack Abramoff for much of the next ten years. Thanks to Norquist, Jack Abramoff was soon able to expand the orbit of his right-wing fellowship to include the powerful inner circle of House majority whip Tom DeLay, beginning with his chief of staff, Ed Buckham.


It was Buckham who became Jack Abramoff’s lasting entrée into the majority whip’s office. According to John Feehery, “In those early days…we knew [Abramoff] mainly as a friend of Buckham’s.” Buckham, speaking of Abramoff, told reporters, “He is someone on our side. He has access to DeLay.”





But back in January 1995, Abramoff was still basically a D.C. wannabe. DeLay and Buckham were already in the political promised land. And, by implementing Project Relief and, later, what was called the K Street Project, Tom DeLay was about to make himself the most powerful House majority whip ever. More powerful, in time, than the majority leader, more powerful even than the Speaker.


But, first, DeLay would have to suffer Gingrich—while attempting to sidetrack him. The best way to do that, DeLay realized, would be to transform the office of the majority whip and make it into a separate power center. For this, the Texan congressman had a plan.









CHAPTER TWO

A Pig Roast on the Island





Tom DeLay had never been close to the extended Bush family. The rough-hewn former exterminator didn’t travel in the same circles as the patrician, Episcopalian, Yale-educated former president. Nor was DeLay particularly enamored of newly elected Texas governor George W. Bush, despite the latter’s oft-proclaimed evangelical Christian beliefs.


The old man was too Eastern WASPy, while the younger Bush, despite the boots and the Stetson, the contrived accent and the chaw, was—by DeLay’s high standards—not sufficiently tough enough. The new governor’s right-hand man, Karl Rove, didn’t meet the test either. Despite his take-no-prisoners air, Rove projected just the sort of smarty-pants-intellectual-with-an-attitude style that DeLay despised. Nor did Rove enjoy the trust of the big-name Christian evangelical pastors who increasingly formed the base of DeLay’s power bloc.


DeLay did, however, have something in common with Rove: Big Tobacco. During the “Tobacco Wars” of the early 1990s, Rove had been the chief political operative in Texas for the Philip Morris Company. Rove’s job back then had been to try to keep the Texas attorney general from joining with other state attorneys general in bringing suit against the tobacco companies over the alleged cancer-causing effects of nicotine found in cigarettes. Rove lost that battle—the state’s Democratic attorney general at the time, Dan Morales, joined in the war against tobacco—but gained the undying goodwill of the tobacco industry.


In the process, Rove learned firsthand to hate tort lawyers, the mostly Democratic plaintiffs’ lawyers known now as “the tobacco lawyers,” who first instigated the multibillion-dollar class actions over smoking. The Texas tobacco lawyers, who themselves eventually reaped millions from the defeated industry, in turn, learned to hate Karl Rove, for Rove brought Big Tobacco’s money to the Republican table.


It wasn’t the Bushes’ Yale and Harvard degrees or their Eastern ways that Tom DeLay appeared to envy. It was their easy access to money—Big Money, Old Money, Wall Street Money, and, thanks in part to Rove, Tobacco Money.


If he wanted to be a player and ultimately challenge Newt Gingrich, Tom DeLay would have to have access to his own hoard of cash. Thus was born DeLay’s personal political action committee, or PAC, officially known as Americans for a Republican Majority, but better known by its acronym, ARMPAC. Wielding the millions of dollars contributed to ARMPAC by right-wing millionaires and big corporations, the whip could ensure not merely his own reelection, but the election of individual Republican congressmen, indebted above all to himself.


The man DeLay chose to run ARMPAC was Karl Gallant, a former tobacco industry lobbyist with ties to R.J. Reynolds and Philip Morris. Gallant’s background also included work with the National Right to Work Committee and the Ramhurst Corporation (which has been described as “a stealth group created by the tobacco industry to lobby and organize ‘grassroots’ pro smoking campaigns”). Joining Gallant at ARMPAC was another former R.J. Reynolds operative, Jim Ellis, along with DeLay’s 1996 campaign manager, Bob Mills.


DeLay having hired Big Tobacco’s men, Big Tobacco returned the favor. The seed money for ARMPAC came from R.J. Reynolds ($17,000) and Philip Morris ($10,000).


Gallant’s first big coup came at a 1995 Houston fund-raiser—ostensibly in honor of newly crowned Speaker Gingrich—sponsored by Enron and its CEO, Kenneth Lay. (The Enron executives alone wound up contributing $280,000 to the event.) Before that Houston fund-raiser, Gingrich’s personal PAC (GOPAC) had raised $1.5 million as opposed to ARMPAC’s $780,000. After the fund-raiser, the numbers flipped. Gingrich might have had the big title, but DeLay now had the big bucks.


Like future vice president Dick Cheney, DeLay well understood the nature of power. Willpower and tenacity, a well-known disposition not merely to defeat but to destroy one’s enemies, coupled with a stockpile of readily disbursable cash, would always, or nearly always, trump those who were merely dressed in the accoutrements of power. The glue was the money. And in the city of Washington in the District of Columbia, there was no better place to go looking for money than K Street, the traditional home to the city’s lobbyists.





Men like Karl Gallant and Jack Abramoff worked the gray area of politics known as the Lobby. Lobbyists were neither congressmen nor senators—though many had previously served in one or both houses of Congress. Instead, they were the unelected, if better paid, representatives of corporations, trade associations, labor unions, and nonprofit organizations with strong ideological platforms—men and women who prowled the corridors of power in search of votes and influence. By the time Abramoff arrived on the scene in late 1994, the ranks of Washington lobbyists numbered in the thousands.


So-called for the lobbies lying just outside the House and Senate chambers, the Lobby and those who work it have long figured in American political history. Congressional approval for the funding of the transcontinental railroads, for example, was largely the result of early-day lobbying. Railroad bonds and cash were showered on the powerful and the waffling, and many a congressman emerged from the experience a wealthier man. No wonder: the cost of building the railroads was staggering, well into the billions, as measured in today’s dollars.


Nor were even the great and the good exempt from the enticements of the Lobby. In 1864, in the midst of the Civil War, a bill was introduced by Senator John Sherman to give capitalists more incentives to invest in the transcontinental railroad project. The bill’s Indiana Republican sponsor was Union general William Tecumseh Sherman’s brother, the author many years later of the famed Sherman Antitrust Act, and a future secretary of state.


Illinois congressman E. B. Washburne called Sherman’s bill “a most monstrous and flagrant attempt to overreach the government” and warned of “Wall Street stock jobbers who are using this great engine for their own private means.”


Washburne knew whereof he spoke. The Washington of 1864 was filled not only with Union soldiers but with lobbyists working the corridors of Congress on behalf of the transcontinental railroad bill. The lead investor behind the Union Pacific, Thomas “Doc” Durant, was but one of many railroad promoters in town handing out money and stock in return for votes. Just how much Durant of the UP and Collis P. Huntington of the rival Central Pacific spent to get the 1864 act passed has never been found out. One thing, though, was for sure. As the late historian Stephen Ambrose has noted, “A lobbyist hired by Durant…distributed $250,000 in UP bonds, with $20,000 of them going to Charles T. Sherman, eldest brother of the senator and the general.” Durant, Ambose wrote, “was a genial paymaster.” Ambrose might have added that Durant was a model Washington lobbyist—of the mid-nineteenth-century variety.


With so much money at stake, the building of the transcontinental railroad continued to be a source of congressional graft—and a boon to the Lobby—for years to come.


Less than a decade after the passage of the 1864 funding act, the New York Sun dropped a bombshell in the middle of the otherwise torpid 1872 presidential race between Republican incumbent Ulysses S. Grant, the Civil War hero, and the quixotic newspaper editor Horace Greeley. The paper’s exclusive occupied the whole of page one, with headlines that blared: “THE KING OF FRAUDS. How the Crédit Mobilier Bought Its Way Through Congress. COLOSSAL BRIBERY. Congressmen who Have Robbed the People, and who now Support the National Robber. HOW SOME MEN GET FORTUNES. Princely gifts to the Chairmen of Committees in Congress.”


As the result of a bidding scam, the Crédit Mobilier had been awarded some 675 miles of Union Pacific transcontinental railroad tracks to build, the hefty fees due Crédit Mobilier to be paid by the federal government. Pliant congressmen—those who had voted funding for the project—were given stock at face value rather than market value. And while the Union Pacific ultimately teetered on bankruptcy, investors in the Crédit Mobilier were said to have walked off with a profit of $21 million—perhaps as much as a half-billion dollars in today’s money.


The Crédit Mobilier scandal having broken during a presidential election, congressmen, senators, cabinet members, railroaders, investors—and lobbyists—were sent scurrying for cover. A congressional investigation of thirteen of its own members—not the first or last investigation focusing on the Lobby and Congress—eventually implicated more than thirty officials in the scandal. Among those fingered were a former vice president (Republican Schuyler Colfax), a future Republican presidential candidate (House Speaker James G. Blaine), and a future president (Republican James Garfield). The Sun wrote that Speaker Blaine “was a poor man when he became a member of Congress in 1864. He is now a millionaire.”


The pattern had been set. Every decade or so, a major scandal involving the Lobby would surface. Page-one headlines would ensue. The predictable congressional investigation would follow. Reforms would then be enacted. Not infrequently someone would go to jail.


And then the cycle would begin anew.





Today’s lobbyists are less apt to be found handing out money and stock to congressmen—it is illegal to do so—and far more likely to be found making contributions to their political action committees or PACs.


The reason: they, like the lobbyists of old, want to influence the language of the law and the passage of new legislation. Sometimes they endeavor for something positive, such as the search for votes for the funding of the transcontinental railroad; or sometimes, negative, as when the client fears the burden of some new tax and is determined to stop its passage into law.


Influence, however, comes in many forms and fashions. Outright corporate gift-giving to political campaigns and PACs is merely the most obvious manifestation. There are a host of other, subtler ways to gain influence: sponsored trips to faraway places; the use of corporate private jets; a night or two at a Four Seasons or Ritz-Carlton hotel; a hearty meal and a bottle of fine wine at a fancy restaurant; drinks and cigars—preferably illicit Cuban cigars—at one of Washington’s grander private clubs; a day on the links at a fabled golf course. There are, needless to say, congressional rules governing these things, but the rules, as young Congressman DeLay soon discovered, are fungible in the extreme; while the so-called House Ethics Committee has long been the joke of Capitol Hill.


On the other side of the table, if you were a successful lobbyist, working either at a major lobby shop (a company devoted solely to the business of lobbying) or at one of Washington’s premier law firms with a governmental affairs department doing the same sort of work, you could expect to make hundreds of thousands of dollars a year—maybe, if you were both good at it and well connected, millions even.


Not for nothing were the lobby shops of K Street housed in gleaming steel and glass. The very nature of the street bespoke power and money.


The magic words—the Lobby—if you liked them, sang a siren song.





There was nothing subtle about Tom Delay’s K Street Project. It aimed to force the rich and powerful Capitol Hill lobby shops to hire a slew of newly enfranchised Republican lobbyists—many of them personally beholden to Tom DeLay.


Together with a brash, ambitious, newly elected Republican senator—and former fellow House member—from Pennsylvania named Rick Santorum, Majority Whip DeLay put out the word on K Street that Democratic lobbyists need no longer apply. After November 1994, only dyed-in-the-wool Republican lobbyists would be welcome on Capitol Hill.


Change came quickly to K Street—and to the halls of Congress. The Lobby was now everywhere. No longer limited to K Street or to prowling the Capitol Hill hallways, lobbyists were to be found in congressional committee rooms—themselves writing the legislation. DeLay, Santorum, and their crowd had gone beyond something anyone was previously familiar with. The pressure was on firms to hire Republicans—and to fire Democrats. When reporter Elizabeth Drew suggested to Grover Norquist that many Democratic lobbyists were essentially nonideological, Norquist replied, “We don’t want nonideological people on K Street, we want conservative activist Republicans on K Street.” Norquist, Drew concluded, was “the leading enforcer of the K Street Project outside Congress.”


Among the supplicants come to dine at the feast was the newly named head of governmental affairs at the Preston Gates law firm, Norquist’s old buddy, Jack Abramoff.


There was a hitch though. The K Street Project could open doors on the Hill, but it couldn’t necessarily guarantee a client base. The main problem, of course, was that the White House was still in the hands of Democrats. For the next six years, big business—Wall Street, in particular—remained, in large part, supplicant to the party of William Jefferson Clinton. During the eight years of the Clinton presidency, corporate America had at least to pay token obeisance to the Democrats. On occasion, there was palpable love, as in the Clinton administration’s support for NAFTA. The implementation of the North American Free Trade Agreement—enacted over the howls of labor union leaders and other traditional party sponsors—was a prime example of this new moderate-Democrat liaison with Wall Street, a liaison symbolized by the central policy position occupied within the Clinton administration by Treasury Secretary and former Goldman Sachs chair Robert Rubin. NAFTA too was exemplary of the Clinton administration’s forward-thrusting, consensus-building, get-it-done side. A side of the administration that was anything but ideological.


In such a world of compromise in which Republicans and Democrats, legislators and lobbyists and Wall Street movers and shakers alike, did deals with one another daily, if not minute by minute, there wasn’t going to be much business for an uncompromising, outspoken right-wing ideologue such as Jack Abramoff—no matter how well connected he was on one side of the table. But if the goal was not measured by positive achievement, if it was instead measured in negative terms, with the power of the House majority whip and his team aligned to defeat legislation, that was another matter. For to stop a bill from reaching the president’s desk, you merely had to defeat it in one house. And if your friend controlled that one house…and if your name was Jack Abramoff and your friend was Tom DeLay…


This then would be the genius of Jack Abramoff during his first six years in Washington. And it all lay in the power to stop legislation from happening.





Abramoff’s first important client—and for a long time his biggest client—was the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands (CNMI). Located two hundred miles from Guam and some eight thousand miles and fourteen time zones ahead of Washington, D.C.—sixty-six hundred miles and thirteen time zones ahead of Houston—the CNMI was famous as the setting for a June 20, 1944, air-sea battle between the U.S. Navy and the Imperial Japanese Navy. The Battle of the Philippine Sea had been a disaster for the Japanese, resulting in the near total destruction of their carrier-based air forces. To this day, it is referred to as the Great Marianas Turkey Shoot.


In more recent times, the Commonwealth became home to garment factories doing approximately $1 billion a year in business. While residents of the Marianas (population 53,552) were U.S. citizens, the bulk of the population (58 percent) was nonresident, mostly Chinese. And where U.S. workers earned a minimum wage of $5.15, workers in the Marianas received a mere $3.05.


As things stood, the textile owners were allowed to have “Made in the USA” labels sewn onto clothing destined for middle-class American favorites such as Tommy Hilfiger and The Gap. The garments, in turn, were made in factories that were notorious sweatshops employing mostly female, mostly illegal laborers. Here, women from the Philippines, Thailand, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka, and, above all, China worked eighty-four-hour weeks in fenced-in industrial parks.


The textile owners of the Marianas and Majority Whip DeLay shared a common enemy in President Bill Clinton, whose administration proposed to extend U.S. labor, immigration, and minimum-wage laws to the Marianas. The Department of Labor had committed itself to rooting out the sweatshops, destroying the islands’ infamous system of brothels, and instituting fair-labor laws. The textile owners were just as determined to stop them from doing so.


Prodded by the Clinton administration, the Senate in 1995 passed legislation that would have stripped the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands from its exemptions from U.S. labor and immigration laws.


From the point of view of the all-powerful sweatshop lords, something had to be done to stop the bill from ending up on President Clinton’s desk. The answer to the textile owners’ prayers: Tom DeLay, Ed Buckham, and Jack Abramoff.


No longer a K Street neophyte, Abramoff had swiftly risen among the ranks of D.C. lobbyists. The chief reason for his success was Abramoff’s perceived closeness to DeLay and Buckham. Speaking of his longtime friend Abramoff, Grover Norquist told David Rosenbaum of the New York Times, “He walks in to see DeLay, and DeLay knows that he is representing clients whose views are in sync with DeLay’s views.”


Commonwealth governor Froilan Tenorio, a former garment-industry executive, first contracted with Preston Gates in 1994, one year into the Clinton presidency. Over the next seven and a half years, the Commonwealth would pay Abramoff and the firms that employed him some $7.2 million in lobbying fees. During this period, Abramoff billed the Marianas for 187 contacts with DeLay’s office in 1996 and 1997—among them, 104 discussions with Buckham and 16 direct meetings with DeLay.


It wasn’t just Abramoff who benefited from the relationship. Governor Tenorio also awarded a $1.2 million contract in 1996 to Seattle-based, but South African–born-and-raised Rabbi David Lapin—the brother of the man who had first introduced Jack Abramoff to Tom DeLay in 1994—to promote “ethics in government.” Rabbi Lapin’s original contract called for him to provide Commonwealth officials with eight days of ethics training. Clearly, ethics training was in order. Within a year, the value of the contract awarded David Lapin had swollen to $1.2 million. Pam Brown, the attorney general for the Marianas, would later admit that the government there still hadn’t been able to determine what work Lapin had actually performed. “We haven’t been able to figure out what the deliverables were,” Brown reportedly said.





The Marianas had no such problem with the work Jack Abramoff performed. In his case, the deliverable had a name: Thomas D. DeLay, who liked nothing so much as a fact-finding trip, especially if the location was exotic, the lodgings swank, the fare first-class, and an inviting golf course beckoned.


And what better time to visit someplace far away and warm than Christmastime? That’s how it was that DeLay, wife Christine, and daughter Dani DeLay Ferro, a political organizer for her father, found themselves journeying to Saipan, the largest island in the Commonwealth. Joining them were Chief of Staff Ed Buckham and Communications Director John Feehery. The sponsors of the trip: the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands and the Saipan Garment Manufacturers’ Association, both of them Abramoff clients.


Waiting to greet them at the airport, Feehery recalls, was “a throng of well-wishers, musicians, elected officials—and Jack Abramoff.” Capping off the first day’s events, remembers Feehery, was the luau held for the DeLay party that night, “complete with dancers and a roasted pig.” Their host was Willie Tan, the most important man on the islands as well as its biggest garment manufacturer (through his Tan Holdings).


When DeLay arrived for his triumphal tour of the Marianas in December 1997, the textile owners pulled out all the stops. The event was one big pig roast—and a great place to raise more money for DeLay. Making sure that this happened was the job of fellow participant Ed Buckham. As for the boss, reporter Rosenbaum noted in the Times, “Mr. DeLay came back enthralled.”


During the visit, the close-knit DeLay family, Ed Buckham included, brunched with the obliging Willie Tan, played golf, and were wined and dined—courtesy of Tan—at the Pacific Islands Club. At a sumptuous New Year’s Eve dinner, a glowing majority whip referred to a beaming Jack Abramoff as “one of my closest and dearest friends.” DeLay closed his speech with the exhortation “Stand firm. Resist evil. Remember that all truth and blessings emanate from our Creator.” As John Feehery recalls, DeLay “told the assembled revelers to resist evil, referring to a minimum wage hike.” After which, in the words of a Washington Post account, “He then departed with Tan to see a cockfight.”





Congressman George Miller, a liberal Democrat from California, has long been one of the most vocal advocates for reform in the Marianas. Abramoff, said Miller, the ranking Democrat on the House Education and the Workforce Committee—and the former ranking member on the House Resources Committee (with oversight of America’s far-flung territories)—“spent a lot of time, effort and money to protect a system that was a growth industry for sex shops, prostitution, abuse of women, slavery, illegal immigration, worker exploitation and narcotics, and he did it all in the name of freedom.”


While Tom DeLay’s New Year’s visit to Saipan had officially been arranged by the National Security Caucus Foundation (on whose board Jack Abramoff would later serve), which claims to “promote a strong national defense, democracy and human rights,” the tab itself was paid for by Preston Gates, from monies paid by its Marianas clients.


Returning from Saipan, Majority Whip DeLay extolled the virtues of the Marianas in remarks before the U.S. House of Representatives. The Commonwealth of the Marianas, DeLay now asserted, was the “model of reform.”


The Christmas visit was but one of a number of fact-finding missions dispatched by DeLay to the Marianas. Another would feature campaign manager Bob Mills accompanied by Chief of Staff Ed Buckham. In Saipan, Mills and Buckham met with Marianas kingpin Tan, the island’s largest employer. A month later, Marianas politician Benigno “Ben” Fitial, a longtime Tan associate, returned the favor, traveling to Capitol Hill, where he sang “Happy Birthday” to a delighted Tom DeLay in the whip’s office.*





In servicing the interests of the powerful textile owners of the Marianas, Jack Abramoff dealt with officials in the U.S. Department of the Interior and the congressional oversight committees involved with America’s overseas possessions. Not that Abramoff expected favors from the Clinton administration, but it paid to become familiar with the inner workings of Interior. The Washington Post would, for example, later report that the Marianas desk officer at Interior, Roger Stillwell, accepted dinners at Abramoff’s restaurant, Signatures, as well as tickets to Redskins games. But Abramoff became most adept with the inner workings of the congressional committees, thanks in no small measure to his friendship with DeLay.


During the long years of Democratic stewardship, the House and Senate Committees on the Interior had regularly been led by conservation-minded Westerners, such as the late Morris Udall of Arizona. Under House Republican management, the names of the committees were changed to reflect a not-so-subtle shift from conservation to exploitation: in the Senate, it was now the Energy and Natural Resources Committee; in the House, the Committee on Resources (which, strange to say, also had oversight of America’s Indian tribes and overseas territories and commonwealths) and the Committee on Energy and Commerce. The new stewards tended to be extreme conservatives from oil-rich states—men who were apt as not to be in sync with Jack Abramoff—and who, in the House at least, were sure to be in sync with Tom DeLay. Men such as Energy and Commerce chairman Billy Tauzin of Louisiana and his successor, Joe Barton of Texas, and Resources chairman Richard Pombo, a rancher from California, whose strident antienvironmentalism and willingness to let them drill anywhere anytime made him a favorite of energy companies.


Tucked within the same, overlapping bodies of officialdom (Interior and the congressional appropriations and oversight committees) lay control over the wealth of America’s national parks and wilderness lands, its overseas commonwealths and territories (such as the Marianas, Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam), and a host of semiautonomous and, in some cases, fabulously rich Indian tribes.


At some point, surely, Jack Abramoff realized what lay before him, the vast treasure trove waiting to be looted.


To the world, of course, Abramoff presented a different face. In an April 2002 interview with David Rosenbaum of the New York Times, Abramoff asserted, “All of my political work is driven by philosophical interests, not by a desire to gain wealth.” Indian reservations and island territories were, Abramoff added, “just what conservatives have always wanted, which is enterprise zones—tax free, regulation free zones where with the right motivation, great industry could take place and spill out into the general communities.”


And into the wallet of Jack Abramoff.
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